STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

ORIGINAL

Certiorari to Richland County

Honorable Jocelyn J. Newman, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

MAY 03 2019

ROBIN GRAY REESE,

S.C. SUPREME COURT
PETITIONER

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2019-000141

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

TAYLOR D GILLIAM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Whether the PCR court erred as a matter of law when it found that Petitioner's Motion to Alter or Amend was untimely, where it was served on the tenth day as required by Rule 59(e), SCRCP, where the PCR court conflated the service and filing of a motion, and where the court incorrectly concluded it no longer had jurisdiction to alter its November 19 judgment?

- II. Whether the PCR court erred in finding that Petitioner was not prejudiced by trial counsel's failure to object to Petitioner wearing both wrist and ankle shackles in view of the jury throughout the trial, where Petitioner was shackled the entire duration of trial, including the time when Petitioner walked to and from the witness stand in full view of the jury?

- III. Whether the PCR Court erred in finding that trial counsel rendered effective assistance of counsel where he failed to object to the unresponsive testimony of the prosecution's investigator, Campbell Streeter, who said that he believed State's witness Kara Chase was "being forthcoming" when she spoke with him, which was an improper comment upon another witness' credibility?

- IV. Whether the PCR Court erred in finding that trial counsel rendered effective assistance of counsel where he failed to object to Sergeant William Pegram's testimony that "in my opinion of the law, everybody involved in this case was guilty but I had to determine the principal parties in the case," which invaded the province of the judge and jury?

STATEMENT

Indictment and Trial

On October 5, 2011, the Richland County Grand Jury returned an indictment against Petitioner Robin Reese for lynching, first degree. On October 5, 2011, the Grand Jury returned an additional indictment against Reese for murder. App. 1505 – 1508.

On February 28 – March 2, 2012, Reese appeared for trial before the Honorable Thomas G. Cooper, Jr. and a jury. Reese was represented by Andrew Farley. Jointly tried co-defendant Henry Gray was represented by Mathias Chaplin. The State was represented by assistant solicitors Luck Campbell, April Sampson, and Nicole Simpson. The jury returned verdicts of guilty as to both indicted offenses against both Reese and Gray. App. 1158 – 1159. Judge Cooper sentenced Reese to concurrent terms of thirty years' incarceration. App. 1180, l. 23 – 1181, l. 7.

Direct Appeal

Reese's direct appeal was perfected by the filing of a brief of appellant by Appellate Defender Katherine Hudgins. App. 1186. The State, represented by senior assistant attorney general William Edgar Salter, III, filed its brief of respondent. App. 1210. After holding oral argument, the Court of Appeals affirmed Reese's convictions and sentences in an unpublished opinion filed July 30, 2014. App. 1258. The case was remitted to the lower court on August 15, 2014. App. 1260.

Post-Conviction Relief

On September 14, 2014, Reese filed an application for post-conviction relief ("PCR") alleging ineffective assistance of trial counsel. App. 1261. The State filed its return on March 11, 2015. App. 1268. On August 30, 2016, an evidentiary hearing was held before the

Honorable Jocelyn J. Newman. Reese was represented by Jonathan Waller, and the State was represented by assistant attorney general Jessica Kinard. App. 1273. At the outset of the PCR hearing, PCR counsel placed on the record several oral amendments regarding additional allegations of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, all of which had been disclosed to the State at least ten days prior to the hearing. App. 1277, l. 9 – 1278, l. 8. The PCR court was then presented with testimony from both Reese and trial counsel Farley. App. 1274.

At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Newman asked both parties to prepare proposed orders. App. 1337, ll. 13-19. PCR counsel submitted a detailed proposed order. App. 1339. However, it was the State's proposed order denying post-conviction relief that Judge Newman signed and filed on November 14, 2016. App. 1353. On December 1, 2016, PCR counsel filed a motion to amend pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCF, arguing that the Order of Dismissal did not "contain specific findings of fact and conclusions of law regarding each of the claims presented at the evidentiary hearing, as required by S.C. CODE ANN. § 17-27-80" and that the summary of testimony in the Order of Dismissal "is not an objective, true, and accurate recitation of the testimony presented during the evidentiary hearing." App. 1365. The State filed a return to the motion on December 14, 2016. App. 1367. On April 21, 2017, Judge Newman filed a form order denying the motion to amend. App. 1370.

Prior Appeal and Remand

Appellate Defender Laura Baer filed a twenty-four page, four-issue petition for writ of certiorari on December 27, 2017. App. 1372 – 1397. One of the issues raised was that "[t]he PCR court erred where it failed to make specific findings of fact, and state expressly its conclusions of law, relating to each issue presented as required by S.C. Code An. § 17-27-80." Id. In response and in lieu of a return, the State filed a Motion for Remand for Specific Findings

of Fact and Conclusions of Law Pursuant to S.C. Code Section 17-27-80 on April 20, 2018. App. 1399 – 1401. The undersigned then filed a Return to the State’s Motion on April 30, 2018. App. 1403 – 1411. The State filed a Reply to the Return on May 4, 2018. App. 1412 – 1415. This Court granted the State’s motion by way of an Order dated October 18, 2018. App. 1417 – 1419. That Order outlined the following procedure:

We find the circuit court erred by signing the PCR order and in denying Reese’s Rule 59(e) motion. We vacate both orders, remand the case to the circuit court for the entry of a new PCR order that complies with the law, and dismiss this appeal. The new PCR order shall be entered within thirty days. The circuit court must notify the Clerk of this Court in writing that it has complied with our directive in a timely manner. Following the issuance of a legally sufficient PCR order and a ruling on any Rule 59(e) motion that may thereafter be filed, the aggrieved party may serve and file a new notice of appeal.

App. 1419.

The undersigned submitted a proposed Order Granting Post-Conviction Relief. App. 1420 – 1440. In response, the State submitted a proposed Amended Order of Dismissal. App. 1441 – 1467. On or about November 19, 2018, Judge Newman signed an Amended Order of Dismissal. App. 1468 – 1489. This Order was filed the same day. Respondent mailed a copy to the undersigned on November 27, 2018. App. 1490. A copy was sent electronically the same day as well. App. 1491.

Ten days later, on December 7, 2018, the undersigned served a Motion to Alter or Amend the Amended Order of Dismissal under Rule 59(e), SCRCF. App. 1492 – 1497. A Form 4 Order was filed on January 10, 2019. App. 1498 – 1499. Accompanying the Form 4 Order was an Order Denying Applicant’s Motion. App. 1500 – 1504.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I. The PCR court erred as a matter of law when it found that Petitioner’s Motion to Alter or Amend was untimely, where it was served on the tenth day as required by Rule 59(e), SCRPC, where the PCR court conflated the service and filing of a motion, and where the court incorrectly concluded it no longer had jurisdiction to alter its November 19 judgment.

Introduction

Petitioner Reese and her brother, Henry “Six” Gray, were jointly tried for the murder and lynching¹ of Kenneth Mack. Reese’s daughter, Lucy, who was thirteen at the time of the incident, testified that she walked to get her nails done but arrived to find that the salon was closed. Mack, whom Lucy did not know, saw her knock on the locked door of the shop and said “you can come in my house.” App. 919, l. 24 – 924, l. 11. Rather than going with Mack, Lucy went to the local store where Reese was playing video poker. She purchased a bag of chips and headed back to the family’s apartment at Gonzales Gardens on McDuffie Avenue in Columbia, South Carolina. App. 924, l. 12-15; App. 930, ll. 11-16; App. 934, l. 14 – 936, l. 13; see App. 258, l. 8 – 261, l. 10.

Mack approached Lucy again. When she tried to avoid him, Mack threw a snowball at her. When Lucy said she was going to get her mom, Mack grabbed Lucy’s jacket with his right hand. Lucy slapped Mack. Mack picked Lucy up and threw her down between two bushes and began “tussling” with her. App. 924, l. 16 – 925, l. 13. Marcellius “Bloom” Brooks and a group of other young men intervened and got Mack off of Lucy. They punched and kicked Mack, and

¹ The former crime of lynching was defined in section 16–3–210 of the South Carolina Code (2003). The section was amended effective June 2, 2010 and redefined first-degree lynching as “assault and battery by mob in the first degree.” S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-3-210(B) (Supp. 2017).

Lucy hit Mack a couple of times too. App. 925, l. 14 – 926, l. 7; see also App. 245, l. 10 – 249, l. 2; App. 254, l. 12 – 261, l. 5; App. 556, l. 8 – 562, l. 17; App. 656, l. 21 – 664, l. 3. Mack eventually got away and was seen stumbling through the area. App. 249, ll. 3-13; App. 476, l. 6 – 478, l. 7; App. 636, l. 21 – 638, l. 9; App. 658, ll. 5-7; App. 993, l. 24 – 995, l. 24.

Brooks took Lucy back to the store and told Reese what happened. As she took Lucy home, Reese placed telephone calls to her own apartment, her father's apartment, and to Brooks. App. 562, l. 18 – 566, l. 20; App. 926, l. 9 – 927, l. 17; App. 936, l. 14 – 942, l. 10. Meanwhile, Reese's brother, Henry Gray, ran into Mack in the Gonzales Gardens area. After receiving a call on his cell phone, Gray swept Mack's legs out from under him, causing Mack to fall backwards and strike his head on the pavement. Gray then began kicking Mack. App. 276, l. 19 – 284, l. 14; App. 395, l. 22 – 401, l. 22; App. 638, l. 11 – 643, l. 25. Reese eventually came upon Gray and Mack. Reese slipped on the ice when she went to kick Mack but slapped him from where she landed on the ground. She admitted flinging a metal chair but denied that it ever made contact with Mack. App. 282, l. 22 – 283, l. 6; App. 942, l. 13 – 949, l. 14; see also App. 644, l. 14 – 645, l. 18. Other bystanders claimed that Gray and Reese both struck Mack with their hands, feet, and with the metal chair. App. 284, l. 15 – 287, l. 3; App. 348, l. 16 – 356, l. 1; App. 406, l. 18 – 407, l. 13.

Three pathologists testified at trial – Dr. Bradley Marcus for the State, Dr. Adel Shaker for defendant Gray, and Dr. Sandra Conradi for defendant Reese. App. 670; App. 841; App. 906. All of them agreed that the cause of Mack's death was a closed head injury to the brain due to blunt force trauma. App. 705, l. 1 – 710, l. 13; App. 848, ll. 3-7; App. 913, l. 22 – 914, l. 25. Dr. Conradi opined that the fatal injury was caused from falling or being propelled onto a hard surface, causing the skull to fracture. App. 912, ll. 4-20; App. 914, ll. 2-25; App. 916, l. 24 –

917, l. 6. The State called Dr. Clay Nichols in rebuttal, who agreed that “the timeline and injuries indicate that it would have been a second assault where the deceased fell and hit the concrete, resulting in closed head injury” that caused Mack’s death. App. 1010, ll. 4-15; App. 1011, ll. 8-22. By all accounts, Gray had already caused Mack to fall and strike his head on the pavement prior to Reese’s arrival at the scene. App. 282, l. 21 – 283, l. 6; App. 404, l. 23 – 405, l. 2; App. 643, ll. 22-25; App. 943, ll. 8-11.

At the post-conviction relief hearing, Reese made several allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Amongst others, the specific allegations included that trial counsel rendered deficient performance in failing to request that Reese not be visibly shackled in front of the jury; failing to object to testimony of the prosecution’s investigator, Campbell Streeter; and failing to object to testimony of Sergeant William Pegram. *See* discussion *infra* in Issues II-IV. Neither these, nor any of the other allegations, were specifically ruled upon in the PCR court’s original Order of Dismissal. App. 1353 – 1363. PCR counsel properly filed a motion to amend pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCF, but it was denied. App. 1365 – 1366; App. 1370.

Relevant Facts

In Reese’s original PCR application, she raised three allegations of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, which included that trial counsel was deficient in failing to provide explanations for the jury strikes following the State’s Batson² motion; failing to argue a proper basis for the giving of a charge on the lesser offense of voluntary manslaughter; and failing to challenge the prosecution’s allegations that Reese placed a telephone call to her co-defendant/brother, Henry Gray, on the day of the incident. App. 1263 – 1264. Without objection, PCR counsel orally amended the application to add the following allegations of ineffective assistance of trial

² Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986).

counsel: (1) Failure to move to suppress Applicant's statement as not voluntarily given; (2) Failure to object to impermissible comments during Solicitor's closing argument; (3) Failure to object to Applicant being seen by jury while wearing both ankle and wrist shackles; (4) Failure to properly advise Applicant with regards to her decision to testify; (5) Failure to obtain Applicant's phone records; (6) General failure to prepare; (7) Failure to investigate and speak with state's witnesses; and (8) Failure to object during the testimony of Campbell Streeter and William Pegram. App. 1277, l. 9 – 1278, l. 8; App. 1354.

The PCR court's original Order of Dismissal was divided into four sections – "Procedural History," "Allegations," "Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law," and "Conclusion." App. 1353 – 1362. The "Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law" section included sub-sections of "Summary of testimony," "Ineffective Assistance of Counsel," and "All Other Allegations." App. 1358 – 1361. The second section regarding ineffective assistance of counsel included the typical recitation of applicable law, followed by only two paragraphs of reasoning. App. 1361.

PCR counsel filed a timely motion to amend pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC, pointing out the PCR court's failure to specific findings of fact and conclusions of law regarding each of the claims presented at the evidentiary hearing, as required by S.C. CODE ANN. § 17-27-80. App. 1365. The State filed a return to the motion with the following response: "Respondent submits that the Order of Dismissal contains the appropriate findings of fact and conclusions of law as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-80 (1976), and Rule 52(a) SCRPC. See also McCray v. State, 305 S.C. 329, 408 S.E.2d 241 (1991)." App. 1367. The PCR court denied the motion to amend in a form order. App. 1370.

Notably, according to the Rule 59(e) motion filed by PCR counsel, the original, deficient Order of Dismissal was served on PCR counsel by U.S. mail on November 16, 2016. App. 1365.

The Rule 59(e) motion was filed by PCR counsel on November 30, 2016, more than ten days after service. Id. However, the PCR court did not declare the motion untimely.

A review of the Form 4 orders which accompanied various filings at the circuit court on remand confirm that the undersigned was not served with the Amended Order of Dismissal by the clerk of court. Prior to the first appeal and remand, the Form 4 order denying PCR counsel's Rule 59(e) motion was signed on April 21, 2017 by the PCR judge and on April 24, 2017 by the clerk of court. App. 1370 - 1371. Unlike the Form 4 which accompanied the Amended Order of Dismissal and the Form 4 accompanying the denial of the undersigned's Rule 59(e) motion post-remand, this one contained the names of counsel. App. 1371; App. 1498 – 1499; Supplemental Appendix 1 – 2. Presumably, the clerk of court serves those attorneys listed on the Form 4 order. The clerk of court did not serve the Amended Order of Dismissal upon the undersigned; it was sent electronically by opposing counsel's office on November 27, 2018. App. 1490 – 1491. The PCR court sent a letter to this Court enclosing a copy of the Amended Order of Dismissal in Petitioner's prior appellate case, but a copy was not sent from either the PCR court or the clerk of court to the undersigned. As a result, November 27, 2018 is the earliest date which the undersigned first received notice of the entry of the order via electronic mail from Respondent's office.

Discussion

The PCR court erred as a matter of law in finding that the undersigned's Rule 59(e) motion was untimely. Rule 59(e) reads: "A motion to alter or amend the judgment shall be served not later than ten days after receipt of written notice of the entry of the order." SCRCP 59(e). The Rule 59(e) motion drafted by the undersigned was served on the tenth day and was therefore timely. App. 1492 – 1497. Trial judges retain jurisdiction to alter judgments on their

own initiative for ten days if a motion to alter or amend is filed. Ness v. Eckerd Corp. 350 S.C. 399, 566 S.E.2d 193 (Ct. App. 2002). The Motion to Alter or Amend was served by the undersigned with knowledge regarding the significance of the ten-day time limitation; it was adhered to by mailing the motion on the tenth day after the Amended Order of Dismissal was received. See Green v. Green, 320 S.C. 347, 465 S.E.2d 130 (Ct. App. 1995).

The Order Denying Applicant's Motion to Alter or Amend the Amended Order of Dismissal contains an oversight: the Amended Order of Dismissal was not mailed to counsel of record on November 19, 2018, the date it was filed. Supp. App. 1 – 2. As previously noted and as can be seen from the Form 4 which accompanied the Amended Order of Dismissal, there were no names listed in the counsel section on the second page. Id. So while the form indicated that “a copy [was] mailed first class or placed in the appropriate attorney's box on this 19 day of Nov. 2018 to attorneys of record as follows,” there were no attorneys of record listed. The undersigned first received the Amended Order of Dismissal electronically from a legal assistant at the South Carolina Attorney General's Office on November 27, 2018. App. 1491. This fact was documented in Petitioner's Motion to Alter or Amend the Amended Order of Dismissal: “Applicant's Counsel received notice of this order on November 27, 2018.” App. 1493.

The Order which found the Rule 59(e) motion was untimely appeared to have concluded that because the motion was not filed until six days after it was served, it was untimely. App. 1502. However, Rule 59(e), SCRCF, does not mention a filing deadline. December 7, 2018 is ten days after November 27, 2018. “In computing any period of time prescribed or allowed by these rules ... the day of the act, event, or default after which the designated period of time begins to run is not to be included.” SCRCF 6(a). This Court recently repeated that “the ten-day deadline in Rule 59(e) is an absolute deadline.” Overland, Inc. v. Nance, 423 S.C. 253, 256, 815

S.E.2d 431, 433 (2018). Petitioner served the Rule 59(e) motion within the absolute deadline, and it was error by the PCR court to deem it untimely.

Holding that a Motion to Alter or Amend under Rule 59(e) has to be filed within ten days would significantly hinder the practice of attorneys statewide who may not be able to hand-deliver motions for filing at the courthouse. The rule, as written, requires service within ten days, and that was done here. The PCR court erred in finding that Petitioner's Motion was untimely. As will be discussed below, this was not the PCR court's only error in Petitioner's case.

II. The PCR court erred in finding that Petitioner was not prejudiced by trial counsel's failure to object to Petitioner wearing both wrist and ankle shackles in view of the jury throughout the trial, where Petitioner was shackled the entire duration of trial, including the time when Petitioner walked to and from the witness stand in full view of the jury.

Relevant Facts

During co-defendant counsel's opening argument, he made reference to the fact that his client was "sitting here at the defense table with shackles on his feet." App. 166, ll. 9-13; see also App. 163, ll. 4-6. Unlike her co-defendant, Petitioner Reese was released on bond following her arrest. However, arrangements were not made with her bondsman so that she could remain on bond during the trial. The jury having been sworn on the morning of February 29, 2012, Reese was taken into custody at the lunch break. App. 171, l. 21 – 172, l. 19; App. 334, l. 11 – 335, l. 21. As a result, the jurors, who originally saw Reese unbound during jury selection, preliminary

instructions, and opening statements, returned to court on the afternoon of February 29, 2012 to observe her shackled.

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