STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari from Richland County
Jocelyn J. Newman, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

SEP 04 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Robin Gray Reese,

Petitioner,

vs.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

Appellate Case No. 2019-000141

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. Respondent does not take a position on the timeliness of Petitioner’s motion under Rule 59(e), SCRPC.

The Respondent does not take a position on this issue. Respondent's records indicate it received its copy of the order by mail on November 26, 2018.

II. Because Petitioner's restraints were only visible when Petitioner walked to the witness stand and evidence was overwhelming because Petitioner and codefendant killed the victim in broad daylight with multiple eyewitnesses, probative evidence supports the PCR court's finding that Petitioner did not prove ineffective assistance of counsel.

Petitioner alleges counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the trial court requiring Petitioner to wear restraints throughout trial. The PCR court made a factual finding that the shackles were visible to the jury only when Petitioner walked to the stand to testify. This exposure of restraints to the jury seems inadvertent. Petitioner complains trial counsel should have requested the trial court to make specific on-the-record findings as required by Deck v. Missouri, 544 U.S. 622 (2005). However, Deck prohibits the practice of routine use of visible shackles during the duration of the trial, and is not applicable to the inadvertent exposure in the present case. Further, Petitioner was not prejudiced by the deficiency because even if counsel objected to the brief exposure of Petitioner's restraints to the jury, it was not reasonably likely to affect the outcome of trial due to the abundant evidence of guilt and the limited exposure of the restraints to the jury.

PCR hearing

Petitioner was out on bond prior to trial. Once the trial began, Judge Cooper ordered Petitioner to be taken into custody and Petitioner wore ankle and wrist restraints but remained in street clothes. App. p. 1312. Petitioner testified as follows concerning the restraints:

Q: Okay. Ms. Reese, was there ever a time when you were – had to get up from the table in front of the jury?

A: Yes.

Q: How were you dressed at that point?

A: I was dressed in regular clothes with – I had shackles on.

Q: Okay. What type of shackles? Like you are wearing today?

A: Yes.

Q: Okay. And you had to go in front of the jury like that?

A: Yeah, I took the stand.

Q: Was the jury seated and you walked in front of them or were they outside and you were already on the stand?

A: They were seated and I walked from that side to this side.

App. p. 1297, lines 7-24. On cross-examination:

Q: Okay. And you said that you were wearing street clothes during the trial; is that correct?

A: Correct.

Q: Regular clothes

A: Yes.

Q: But you do recall walking in front of the jury wearing shackles

A: Yes, ma'am.

App p. 1301, lines 13-20. Petitioner did not present any testimony or evidence that her restraints were visible during any other part of the trial.

Gray's counsel referred to the restraints during opening argument as part of an obvious trial strategy. Gray's counsel rhetorically asked the jury, "Do any of you have any idea what the end of

the world sounds like?” before answering his own question, “If you were to ask my client that question, he would tell you it sounds like being wrongfully accused. It sounds like being arrested. It sounds like being incarcerated. It sounds like being taken away from your family. It sounds like being forced to sit in a courtroom, shackled. It sounds like pure and utter despair.” App. p. 162, lines 17-18; p. 162, line 24 – p. 163, line 7. Then, advising the jury of the State’s burden, Gray’s counsel argued, “[T]hat’s why this is so sad; because you see, the State is not going to be able to [prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt].” App p. 163, lines 8-13.

Petitioner’s trial counsel confirmed both Petitioner and Gray wore restraints during the whole trial. He explained that once Judge Cooper decided to take the defendants into custody during trial, he also ruled they would be shackled. Counsel admitted, “So it wasn’t my preference.” App. p. 1312, lines 23-25. He suggested he was probably not paying close attention to opening argument when Gray’s counsel mentioned the restraints. App. p. 1313. Counsel agreed Reese wore restraints when she walked to the witness stand in front of the jury and he did not object. App. pp. 1322-23. Counsel never testified the restraints were visible to the jury during any other part of the trial.

PCR court’s findings

The PCR court observed that both Petitioner and counsel agreed the jury observed her in shackles when Petitioner walked to the witness stand, however, the PCR court found no evidence the shackles were visible to the jury at any other time during trial and noted the common practice in General Sessions to ensure shackles are not visible. App. p. 1480. The PCR court concluded as follows:

In this case, any prejudice to Applicant was minimal because the jury’s view of her restraints was extremely limited. Applicant was in

the courtroom with jurors and potential jurors for five days. Even in the largest of courtrooms in the Richland County Judicial Center, the distance between a defendant's chair and the witness stand takes mere seconds to travel. There is no evidence that the jury's quick view of the shackles resulted in prejudice. Further, any potential prejudice was limited by Trial Counsel's depiction of Applicant and was outweighed by the abundance of evidence against her (eyewitness testimony, Applicant's statement, etc.). While Trial Counsel erred in his failure to object, an objection was unlikely to affect the outcome of the trial; and the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Therefore, this portion of the PCR Application is denied.

App. pp. 1481-82.

The PCR court also addressed Petitioner's allegation counsel should have objected to Gray's opening argument finding Gray's counsel made the statement to engender sympathy for Gray. This sympathy would naturally extend to Petitioner. The PCR court noted Gray's opening statement was consistent with counsel's strategy of depicting Petitioner as a concerned mother and emphasizing the incident resulted from the victim assaulting Petitioner's child. App. p. 1487. Therefore, the PCR court concluded Petitioner did not meet her burden of proving that allegation. App. p. 1488.

Deck prohibits routine use of visible shackles

In Deck v. Missouri, 544 U.S. 622 (2005), the United States Supreme Court held routine use of visible restraints violates due process, and found visible restraints may be used only if "justified by an essential state interest" such as security. Deck, 544 U.S. at 624 (quoting Holbrook v. Flynn, 475 U.S. 560, 568-69 (1986)). Relying on precedent concerning the guilt phase of trials, the Court concluded "the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments prohibit the use of physical restraints visible to the jury absent a trial judge's determination, in the exercise of his discretion, that they are justified by a state interest specific to a particular trial" including "potential security problems and the risk of

escape at trial.” Id. at 629. Due to the prejudicial effect of visible shackles, “due process does not permit the use of visible restraints if the trial court has not taken account of the circumstances of the particular case.” Id. at 632. Even if exceptional circumstances warrant the use of visible restraints, the trial judge must make on-the-record findings as to the circumstances that compel their use. Id. at 633 (emphasizing that the determination “should reflect particular concerns, say, special security needs or escape risks, related to the defendant on trial”).

Deck emphasizes its holding is limited to the use of **visible** shackles: “Thus, where a court, without adequate justification, orders the defendant to wear shackles that will be seen by the jury, the defendant need not demonstrate actual prejudice to make out a due process violation.” Id. at 634; see also Cole v. Roper, 623 F.3d 1183, 1193 (8th Cir. 2010) (finding defendant’s restraints did not violate due process because the defendant was not subject to visible restraints).

Harmless error analysis and the prejudice prong of Strickland still applies to the present case.

While Deck does not require a defendant to show actual prejudice to establish a due process violation, the conviction is still subject to harmless error analysis. And in the context of an ineffective assistance claim for failure to object to shackles, the PCR applicant still carries the burden of proving prejudice in accordance with Strickland.

In People v. Clyde, 961 N.E.2d 634 (N.Y. Ct. App. 2011), the New York Court of Appeals found the use of the visible restraints in that case violated due process pursuant to Deck, but found harmless error analysis should apply to the error, explaining the following:

Because we find that the trial court committed error as a matter of federal constitutional law, we apply Supreme Court precedent in deciding whether the error is of a type that may be harmless . . . In

Deck, the Supreme Court declared that the burden is on the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that a shackling error “did not contribute to the verdict obtained” (544 U.S. 622, 635, 125 S.Ct. 2007 [internal quotation marks omitted], quoting Chapman, 386 U.S. at 24, 87 S.Ct. 824). By quoting language from Chapman, a case that holds, as a matter of federal law, that federal “constitutional errors can be harmless” . . . the Deck Court made it clear that harmless error analysis applies to shackling errors.

Clyde, 961 N.E.2d at 639. The New York Court of Appeals noted the overwhelming evidence in that case and then further noted, “A jury, faced with a defendant accused of assaulting and/or attempting to rape a civilian while incarcerated, is more likely to conclude that the defendant was shackled as a precaution, because of the nature of the crimes charged, than to conclude that the defendant was shackled because he was independently known to be dangerous.” Id.

State v. Mata, 668 N.W.2d 448 (Neb. 2003) bears factual similarity to this case. In Mata, the defendant wore leg shackles, which were not visible to the jury except when Mata was brought into the courtroom during jury selection. Mata needed to walk 15 to 20 feet through the courtroom and the shackles were visible to the jury, although the shackles would not have impeded his gait. Mata was otherwise unrestrained and wore plain clothes. The Nebraska Supreme Court found given the evidence in the case, “it is difficult to imagine how seeing Mata in leg restraints would have led the jury to believe Mata likely to be guilty.” The Nebraska Supreme Court found given the nature of the charges and the evidence in that case, the jury would not be surprised by the shackles and the defendant’s restraints merely called “the jury’s attention to what the jury already knew, defendant was charged with a serious crime.” Id. at 472. The Nebraska Supreme Court concluded under the totality of the record, “[I]t is evident that Mata was not additionally stigmatized by the use of leg restraints and was not prejudiced by those restraints in a way that deprived him of a fair trial.” Id.

In the instant case, Petitioner and Gray wore street clothes. Based on the PCR court's factual findings, Petitioner's restraints were only visible when she walked to the stand. No evidence was presented as to whether the restraints interfered with her gait. The PCR court noted the short distance to the witness stand at the courthouse and found the shackles would have been noticeable to the jury for mere seconds. Petitioner and Gray were both charged with murder from a brutal beating inflicted on the victim. To the extent any jurors noticed the restraints, the jury was more likely to believe the shackles were standard for any murder defendant and would not believe it was more likely Petitioner was guilty because of the shackles.

Further, Deck did not involve an ineffective assistance of counsel claim and the issue of the use of restraints in Deck did not arise from a collateral review of Deck's sentencing hearing, but was reviewed as a direct appeal after counsel objected to shackling. Thus, while Deck may not require a defendant to demonstrate actual prejudice to make out a due process violation where the issue is raised at trial and on direct appeal, Petitioner asserted an ineffective assistance of counsel claim under Strickland based on the failure to object to him being forced to wear visible shackles. Here, Petitioner carried the burden to prove prejudice to be entitled to relief on a Strickland claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. Therefore, the PCR court did not err in finding Petitioner failed to prove prejudice. Petitioner was required to prove "a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id.

The Eleventh Circuit observed Deck applies to a direct appeal setting in which a showing of

routine shackling without a specific needs inquiry shifts the burden to the State to show the resultant due process violation was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. But, Marquard observed Deck did not alter the burden of a claimant to prove prejudice for an ineffective assistance claim. Marquard v. Secretary for the Department of Corrections, 429 F.3d 1278, 1313 (11th Cir. 2005). In deciding Marquard's ineffective assistance claim regarding his shackles being visible during the penalty phase of his trial, the Eleventh Circuit determined, "After Deck, Marquard still has the burden in his IAC-shackling claim to establish a reasonable probability that, but for his trial counsel's failure to object to shackling, the result of his sentencing would have been different." Id.

Therefore, in this appeal from Petitioner's collateral attack on her conviction and sentence, Reese was required to prove that her counsel's unprofessional errors resulted in prejudice under Strickland. She failed to meet her burden of proof so the PCR court did not err.

Probative evidence supports the finding that Petitioner failed to meet her burden of proving the inadvertent and brief exposure of Petitioner's restraints to the jury was reasonably likely to affect the outcome of trial.

Additionally, Deck involved the routine use of restraints that were visible during the duration of the trial. Therefore, the present case differs from Deck because the jury's view of the shackles was inadvertent and brief. It lacked the "constant reminder of the accused's condition" present in Deck. See Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S. 501, 504-05 (1976) (finding the practice of requiring a defendant to appear for trial in prison garb failed to serve any state interest and was unconstitutional, it was a constant reminder of the accused's condition).

This distinction was aptly made in Overstreet v. State, 877 N.E.2d 144 (Ind. 2007). In that case, the evidence indicated any observation by the jury of Overstreet in handcuffs while he was

being transported to the courtroom “was brief and inadvertent and not something the court allowed to happen on a regular basis during the trial.” Id. at 162. The Indiana Supreme Court then opined:

Deck forbids the use of visible restraints only during the guilt and penalty phases of courtroom proceedings. The Supreme Court has not addressed the use of restraints when a criminal defendant in police custody is being moved about the courthouse. Indeed throughout both the majority and dissenting opinions in Deck there is a consistent use of language clearly indicating that being shackled during the entire proceeding, as opposed to being briefly and inadvertently seen entering the courtroom in shackles, is what the constitution forbids. This Court has long determined that a defendant is not automatically entitled to relief based on jurors momentarily seeing a defendant in restraints while being transported about the courthouse.

Id. at 162.

In State v. Moore, 257 S.C. 147, 184 S.E.2d 546 (1971), the defendants were seen by jurors in shackles as they were being prepared to return to the county jail. The trial court denied the defendants’ objection, noting jurors know some defendants are in custody during trial and would need to be transported back and forth from the county jail to the courthouse. The Supreme Court upheld the trial court’s ruling, observing, “It is within the sound discretion of an officer charged with the custody of a prisoner to place handcuffs or shackles on him while being taken back and forth between the courthouse and jail.” Id.

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